I. INTRODUCTION 

This is an appeal arising out of a Common Grantor boundary 

dispute. As this Court is aware, when a Common Grantor divides his 

property into 2 or more parcels, and agreement is reached with an Original 

Grantee about the boundary, that agreed line is binding on both the 

Common Grantor and the Original Grantee. And that is true even if the 

legal description they use might be placed in some other position by a 

surveyor who later uses a more correct method to locate that legal 

description. I 

In this case, however, the trial court treated the Original Grantee as 

if she were a "subsequent purchaser" relying only on visible indications of 

a boundary. The trial court awarded the Original Grantee property which 

was not included in the "Voorheis Survey" relied upon by the Common 

Grantor and Original Grantee. The trial court instead determined 

ownership based on a "Cascade Survey" - conducted 18 years after the 

original purchase and sale. 

This appeal is by Richard (Rich) and Margaret Anderson who were 

the Defendants in the trial court. Their appeal is based on the undisputed 

and indisputable written statements and, in some cases, notarized 

1 Stoebuck and Weaver, 17 WASH PRAC §8.22, p.546 (Thomson/West 2004). 
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signatures of the Plaintiff/Respondent Judith (Judy) Anderson and her late 

husband, Charles W. (Charlie) Anderson.2 Those written statements 

acknowledged Judy and Charlie's complete reliance upon, and even 

argued for continued use of, the 1969 Voorheis Survey used to layout the 

Tracts. But Judy changed her position. 

In the "Conclusion" of her Trial Memorandum, Judy's attorney 

wrote "All Judy wants is the lot she purchased, as she purchased it." Not 

so. This lawsuit was filed by Judy in an effort to have a 1995 Cascade 

Surveying and Engineering (Cascade) survey - commissioned 18 years 

after she purchased - determine ownership. 

Judy and Charlie were the very first purchasers of two of LeRoy 

Caverly's dozen 10-acre Tracts on March 1, 1976. Trial Exhibit (Exh) 3, 

reproduced on the next page, documents that Judy and Charlie bought 

Tracts 3 and 4. By the time Judy filed this lawsuit, Rich and Margaret 

owned Tract 2, directly north of Judy's Tract 4. It is labeled "Boswell" on 

the next page because Rich and Margaret bought from Carol Boswell. The 

boundary line in dispute is between Tracts 2 and 4. 

It was 2V2 years before Mr. Caverly sold Tract E, and another 8 

2 Because both parties' last name is Anderson, first names will primarily be used. The 
opposing parties, despite identical last names, are not related. Judy and Charlie's Wlitten 
and notarized statements, including Exhibits 7-19, were identified, authenticated and 
admitted without objection during Judy's testimony. See Report of Proceedings from 
March 25, 2013 (RP I) esp. pp.41 and 75 and, for example, p.68, lines 13-19. 

2 
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months before Mr. Caverly sold Tract 1 -- a total of 3Yz years after Judy 

purchased. The sale of all 4 Tracts was based on the Voorheis-Trindle-

Nelson (Voorheis) Survey performed in 1969. Even the Trial Court, in its 

own self-written Finding of Fact (FOF) 31 held that: 

All of the individuals who purchased one of the Tracts 
numbered 1-4 from Mr. Caverly did so based on Exhibit 
20, the original Voorheis Survey. The legal description for 
each of these parcels is based upon the Voorheis Survey. 

The present litigation arose because, despite the evidence leading 

to the above unchallenged Finding, Judy filed this lawsuit based on the 

Cascade survey. The Cascade survey differs from the Voorheis Survey 

because Cascade used a 1974 Government ~ comer set by the Department 

of Game 5 years after the Voorheis Survey was performed. The 1974 ~ 

comer was set 48 feet northeast of the previously accepted pipe used by 

the Voorheis Survey. Obviously then, the Cascade Survey "shifted" the 

location of legal descriptions established by, and improvements 

"dimensioned" based on, the Voorheis Survey. Therefore, by filing this 

lawsuit based on the Cascade Survey, performed 18 years after she 

purchased, Judy did not seek "the lot she purchased, as she purchased it." 

In short, Judy was the Original Grantee from the Common Grantor, 

LeRoy Caverly. She purchased her Tracts in 1976, based on the 1969 

Voorheis Survey - and stated so in writing numerous times. She filed this 

3 



lawsuit to gam a windfall of property she never used -- based on the 

"shifted" boundary as located by the Cascade survey. 

The question presented for review is "Why did the trial court (the 

Honorable Janice E. Ellis), hold that the Common Grantor's 1969 

Voorheis Survey did not determine ownership in this case?" The answer is 

that, although the facts are undisputed, application of the law was 

erroneous. 

Judge Ellis was a former Snohomish County Prosecuting Attorney 

and Tulalip Tribe criminal prosecutor, with little or no real estate law 

background who had only recently been appointed to the Snohomish 

County Superior Court. She had a tremendous work ethic, was extremely 

attentive and even came down off the bench into the witness box many 

times in order to closely examine exhibits about which witnesses were 

testifying. She also took part questioning witnesses herself. 3 Based upon 

her attentive diligence throughout the trial, Judge Ellis came to understand 

the factual reasons for a complicated survey discrepancy. Nevertheless, 

she erroneously held that what she called the second "fact" applicable to 

the Common Grantor Doctrine was not proven. CP 54, line 15 - CP 16, 

3 Report of Proceeding from June 21, 2013 (RP2), p.12, lines 6-7; p.13, lines 12-13; 
p.lS, lines 13-14; and Report of Proceedings from July 26, 2013 (RP3) p.6, lines 8-20 
andp.9,lines 11-17. 
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line 5 and CP 14, line 5 - CP 15, line 9. 

Both opposing counsel cited Fralick v. Clark County, 22 Wn App 

156, 160, 589 P.2d 273 (1978), rev. den. 92 Wn2d 1005 (1979) as the 

leading Common Grantor case. It sets forth all aspects of both "questions" 

applicable to the Common Grantor Doctrine, in relevant part as follows: 

[T]he question of applicability of the common grantor 
theory presents two problems: (1) was there an agreed 
boundary established between the common grantor and 
original grantee, and (2) if so, would a visual examination 
of the property indicate to subsequent purchasers that the 
deed line was no longer functioning as "true" boundary? I 

xxx 
I Of course, even in the absence of an on-the-ground marking, a 
subsequent purchaser with actual notice of the agreement is bound by 
the line. Furlow v. Dunn, 201 Ark 23, 144 SW2d 31 (1940); Browder, 
The Practical Location of Boundaries, 56 Mich. L. Rev. 487, 529 
(1958). 

The first "problem" (later referred to as a "question") relates to the 

agreement of the Original Parties. Note that "question" number (2) has 

two alternatives. Note also that both alternatives apply expressly, by their 

own terms, solely to "subsequent purchasers." The first alternative applies 

if there is a boundary visible to "subsequent purchasers." The second 

alternative applies if the "subsequent purchaser" has actual notice of the 

Original Parties' agreement - in which case, no on-the-ground marking 

(i.e. visible boundary) is required at all. 

In short, "subsequent purchasers" are bound either by a visible 
5 



boundary or actual notice of the Original Parties' agreement. Moreover, 

that means actual notice "trumps" a visible boundary because actual notice 

is more determinative than constructive or inquiry notice from a visible 

boundary.4 Obviously, because Judy was the Original Grantee, she had 

actual notice of her Voorheis Survey agreement with Mr. Caverly. She did 

not need a visible boundary for the entire 650 foot length of the boundary 

between Tracts 2 and 4 to be bound. CP 112-115. And 300 of650 feet was 

enough anyway. CP 115-117. 

The trial court never even recognized there was a second actual 

notice alternative to the second "question" in Common Grantor cases. 

Further, the trial court did not notice that both alternatives to the second 

"question" expressly apply only to "subsequent purchasers." Therefore, 

the trial court erroneously applied the "subsequent purchaser question," 

and only the visible boundary portion, to this case about Judy, the Original 

Grantee. But Rich and Margaret sought to bind Judy, the Original Grantee, 

not a "subsequent purchaser," to the Voorheis Survey. 

There were other legal errors as well. But all errors fell within, 

contributed to and compounded this over-arching error of applying the 

4 See discussion of Browder, supra, 58 MICH L REv at 529 in Piotrowski v. Parks, 39 Wn 
App 37, 43ff, 691 P.2d 591 (1984), rev. den. 103 Wn2d 1031 (1985). 
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visible boundary "subsequent purchaser question" to Judy when she was 

the Original Grantee. 5 

In summary, Judy bought based on the Voorheis Survey and she is 

bound by it. There is no legal theory by which -- through the 1995 

Cascade Survey, commissioned 18 years after she purchased -- Judy can 

gain a windfall of additional property which she never used. Yet the award 

of that additional windfall to Judy is the effect of the trial judge's 

erroneous application oflaw. 

II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. The trial court erroneously held that there are two "facts," 

which it treated as "elements," to the Common Grantor Doctrine. This is 

erroneous because caselaw states there are two "problems" or "questions." 

Further, unlike criminal law, these two "questions" are not treated as 

5 The other possibility is that the trial court considered Judy a "subsequent purchaser" 
simply because she bought from Mr. Caverly. This seems unlikely because the caselaw 
refers to the Original Parties as Common Grantor and Original Grantee, separate from 
discussion of "subsequent purchaser." See e.g. Fralick, supra, 22 Wn App at 159-160 
and Winans v. Ross, 35 Wn App 238-240, 666 P.2d 908 (1983). Regardless, if that was 
the mistaken notion under which the trial court was operating, it is error as a matter of 
law. "Subsequent purchasers" is a term of art for "successors in interest of the original 
parties." Browder, supra, 56 MICH L REv at 529-530 (1958). Professor Browder was not 
only cited as authority in Fralick, supra, 22 Wn App at 160 n.l but also in at least three 
(3) other seminal Washington appellate boundary cases. See Lamm v. McTighe, 72 
Wn2d 587,592 n.l, 434 P.2d 565 (1967); Houplin v. Stoen, 72 Wn2d 131, 135 n.6, 431 
P.2d 998 (1967) and Piotrowski v. Parks, supra, 39 Wn App at 42,43 and 45. As will be 
argued, however, even if she were a "subsequent purchaser," Judy would still be bound, 
"even in the absence of an on-the-ground-marking" because she had "actual notice of the 
[Voorheis Survey] agreement." Fralick at 160, n.1. 
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mandatory "elements" in all cases. 

2. The trial court erroneously held that what it referred to as 

two "facts" both had to be proven in this (and, apparently, any other) case. 

This is erroneous because the second "question" is only applicable, by its 

own express terms, to "subsequent purchasers." Since Judy Anderson was 

the Original Grantee, only the first "question" applies in this case. 

3. The trial court erroneously listed, considered and applied 

only the first visible boundary altemative of the second "question." This 

was error because the second "question" actually has two alternatives -

visible boundary or actual notice. Moreover, the second alternative makes 

it clear that actual notice of the Original Parties' Agreement binds 

"subsequent purchasers" even in the absence of on-the-ground (i.e. 

visible) markings. Thus "subsequent purchasers" are bound by actual 

knowledge of the Original Parties' agreement without on-the-ground 

markings. And Original Parties, who obviously have actual notice of their 

agreement, are also bound without on-the-ground markings. See Light v. 

McHugh, 28 Wn2d 326, 183 P.2d 470 (1947), cited as authority for the 

first "question" in Fralick, supra, 22 Wn App at 160. 

4. The trial court sua sponte erroneously applied the "clear, 

cogent and convincing" burden of proof as if this were an equitable 

8 



reformation case. This was error because the State Supreme Court, in 

Kay Corp. v. Anderson, 72 Wn2d 879, 883, 436 P.2d 459 (1967), 

specifically held that the Common Grantor Doctrine is 110t a suit for 

reformation. Further, no Common Grantor case has ever applied the 

equitable burden of proof. Indeed, the trial court itself admitted this.6 

5. The trial court erroneously ignored the undisputed 

evidence, and its own unchallenged Findings that Judy (as well as all other 

purchasers of Caverly Tracts 1-4) purchased based on the Voorheis 

Survey, which was also the basis of Tract legal descriptions. Ignoring this 

evidence, the trial court held that the Common Grantor Doctrine had not 

been proven (based upon the foregoing assignments of error) and thereby 

held de facto that Judy's legal description should be determined by the 

1995 Cascade survey. The Cascade survey, however, was not performed 

until 18 years after Judy purchased. Moreover, as late as 1998, 3 years 

after her own Cascade survey was recorded, Judy signed a notarized Letter 

of Understanding stating that the Voorheis Survey should govern. She also 

promised to hire a surveyor to "revise" her legal description, using the 

6 CP 13, line 19 through CP 14, line 1. The trial court may have been confused by the 
tenn of art for "revision" of a legal description in a Common Grantor case. The tenn of 
art used by this Division in Schultz v. Plate, 48 Wn App 312, 313 n.l and 318, 739 P.2d 
95 (1987) is "refonns" and "refonnation." See also CP 295, line 22 - 296, line 4. 
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Cascade methodology, in order to describe the Voorheis Survey lines. Exh 

13; CP 128 and 129. 

6. By committing the above errors, the trial court erroneously 

awarded Judy property between the two surveys' boundaries. This is a 

strip of property 17.47 to 22.12 feet wide (north to south) by 650 feet long 

(east to west), constituting over ·1;4 of an acre. This was error because, not 

only was this strip not a part of what Judy purchased in 1976, Judy and 

Charlie also never used this strip of property. Therefore it could not have 

been awarded to Judy under any common law boundary doctrine.7 

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

In 1969, LeRoy Caverly commissioned the Voorheis Survey of a 

125-acre forested portion of his property. Exhs 10, 20 and 65, and CP 42-

43, FOF 12 and 16. (Because the Voorheis Survey was performed in 1969, 

4 years before the Survey Recording Act in RCW Chapter 58.09 was 

adopted, it was not recorded.) The Voorheis Survey placed 4x4 cement 

monuments with brass discs to mark its boundaries. Exhs 13, 17 & 56. See 

7 Judy and Charlie's notarized signatures on Exhs 13 and 14 established the north and 
south boundaries of their Tract 3 based on the Voorheis Survey. RP 1, p.51, lines 13-18. 
But Judy now seeks the Cascade line, 17-22 feet northeast of the Voorheis Survey line for 
her Tract 4. RPl, p.55, lines 18-21. In contrast, Rich and Margaret (together with other 
neighbors) had the legal description of the northern boundary of their Tract 2 
revised/reformed to match the Voorheis line. Exhs 34&35. If Judy prevails, Tract 2 will 
be reduced in size by a Cascade southern line (north of the Voorheis line) and a northern 
Voorheis line (south of the Cascade line). 

10 



also Exhs 10, 15 & 34 and RP1, p.18, line 22 - p.19, line 10. The 

Voorheis Survey was then used by Mr. Caverly over the next 5 to 7 years 

to divide the property into a dozen 10-acre Tracts, which he numbered 1-

12, and one (1) smaller irregular lot he labeled "Tract E." Exh 3 on page 

2A, supra; CP 43, FOF 17. Mr. Caverly also began to clear his most 

northerly Tracts. Exhs 48 and 51; CP 45, FOF 19a. 

By 1974, the east half of Tract 2 was largely cleared to a south line 

which has remained very visible. Tract 2 was pasture north of the visible 

line, but Tract 4, south of the visible line remained forested until cleared in 

1994. Compare Exhs 44-48 and 51-52. By 1976 Mr. Caverly had cleared 

further to the west creating a curved line between pasture on the north and 

trees on the south. This curved line also remained visibly unchanged until 

Tract 4 was cleared in 1994. Again, see Exhs 44-48 and 51-52.8 

On March 1, 1976 (recorded March 23, 1976), Mr. Caverly made 

the first sale of any of his 10-acre Tracts to Judy Anderson and her late 

husband Charlie Anderson. Exhs 4 and 8; CP 46-47, FOF 21-23. Judy and 

Charlie wanted to buy Tracts 1 and 2 but, when they were pronounced not 

for sale, bought Tracts 3 and 4 instead. CP 55, line 19 - CP 56, line 2. 

8 Rich and Margaret are NOT appealing from the trial court's decision that the curved 
line was not a Common Grantor agreed line between Mr. Caverly and Judy and Charlie 
Anderson. CP 57, lines 10-22, CP 205-206 and RP2, p.13, lines 19-23. Nevertheless, 
appellants do NOT agree with the trial court's curved line analysis. CP 151-163. 
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Judy and Charlie were also provided a copy of the Voorheis Survey. Exh 

13; CP 46, FOF 22; RP 1, p.l6, lines 2-4. As established by the June 1976 

aerial photograph (taken only 3 months after Judy and Charlie purchased), 

the western portion of Tract 2 had been cleared enough beforehand so that 

pasture grass was already well established. Compare Exhs 44 and 46 with 

Exhs 46 and 47. (Contrary to Judy's testimony in RP1, p.23 , lines 2-19, 

Tract 3 was also cleared by 1976. Exhs 44 and 45.) 

Judy, a CPA (RP 1, pA, lines 10-25), and Charlie, who had 2 

engineering degrees and his own construction company (CP 41, FOF 2 

and RP1, p.10, line 21 - p.11, line 3), also helped Mr. Caverly establish 

roads, underground power and fences for the 10-acre Tracts. CP 124-131; 

Exhs 11, 13, Fax pp. 8-11 ofExh 16 and RPl, pp.29-35, 45-48, 51-53, 59-

68 and 70-72. As Charlie and Judy would later put it, the Voorheis Survey, 

and its 4x4 concrete monuments, were used to "dimension" the roads, 

electricity and fences. CP 124-131; Exhs 13 and Fax pp. 8-11 of Exh 16; 

RP1 at 72. Snohomish County also used the Voorheis Survey in 1980 in 

order to build a new bridge on the County road just east of, but providing 

access to, the Caverly Tracts. Exh 30 and CP 128, 6th _8th last lines. 

In November of 1978, 2Y:z years after Charlie and Judy purchased 

Tracts 3 and 4, Sheila Fowler bought Tract E. Eight (8) months later, in 

12 



July 1979, John and Christine Campbell bought Tract 1. Exhs 12A and 12; 

CP 47, FOF 23 and RP1, pp. 37-39 and 41. When Campbells purchased, 

they were provided a copy of the Voorheis Survey, and its monuments 

were pointed out to them. Exhs 17and 56. Not until almost 10 years later, 

in May 1989, did Mr. Caverly sell Tract 2 to Carol Boswell and her fiance, 

Charles Vollstedt. Exh 12B; CP 47, FOF 27; RPI pp.39 and 41. 

In the meantime, in 1974, 5 years after the Voorheis Survey was 

perfonned, the Washington State Dept. of Game surveyed in the area. It 

established a 4x4 concrete monument for the East ~ of Section 22. CP 47, 

FOF 25. Prior to that new monument, pipe had been recognized as the 

East ~ comer of Section 22. Exhs 10, 20, 65, 31 and Fax p.7 of Exh 16. 

Since the new concrete monument was 48 feet northeast of the pipe, any 

survey of Mr. Caverly's Tracts which used the new monument, rather than 

the pipe, to locate Tract descriptions would "shift" the legal descriptions to 

the northeast of the Voorheis' concrete monuments. Since all roads, 

electricity and fences were "dimensioned" off of the Voorheis concrete 

monuments, new surveys ofMr. Caverly's Tracts using the 1974 ~ comer 

did not match property lines or improvements based on the Voorheis 

Survey. Exhs 32, 33 & 15. 

The first survey to use the new Department of Game ~ comer in 

13 



Section 22 was related to property east of the Caverly Tracts. The Burgess 

Interstate Survey, performed by Cascade in 1981, depicted in the center of 

the map that there were three choices for the East l;4 comer; two pipe and 

the 1974 Department of Game concrete monument. Exh 31. Cascade 

rejected the pipe and chose the 1974 monument. But, somewhat 

inconsistently, Cascade also depicted, in the upper righthand map comer, 

that it relied on the 1980 "Right-of-Way Plan, Bridge No. 416." Exh 30. 

This was somewhat inconsistent because that County Bridge survey was 

based on the Voorheis Survey which relied on the l;4 comer pipe rejected 

by Cascade. Cascade also noted on its Burgess map that there was a 

"potential disputed ownership" in the northeast comer of the Burgess 

parcel; one of the Voorheis concrete monuments was south of where 

Cascade located the north line of the Burgess legal description. Exh 31. 

Five (5) years after the Burgess survey, in 1988 - 12 years after 

Judy and Charles Anderson purchased Tracts 3 and 4 - Cascade 

performed a survey for the owner of Tract 6. CP 47, FOF 26. Cascade's 

map showed two comers inconsistent with its survey which had been 

established based on the Voorheis Survey. Exh 32. Then, another 6 years

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