10814-7

70814-7

CASE NO. 70814-7-1

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I, OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

JUDITH ANDERSON

Respondent

v. RICHARD AND MARGARET ANDERSON

Appellants

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT JUDITH ANDERSON

Roy T. J. Stegena, WSBA #36402 Krista L. White & Assoc., P.S. Attorneys for Respondent

Krista L. White & Assoc., P.S. 1417 4th Ave. Seattle, WA 98101 Telephone: (206) 602-1521

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

IV. ARGUMENT

A. THE SCOPE OF THIS APPEAL IS EXTREMELY NARROW.

As set forth on page 27 of his Opening Brief, Richard does not challenge any of the trial court's fact findings, and asserts only that the court below committed errors of law.

The trial court ruled that Richard failed to prove the visible, irregularly shaped boundary he advocated at trial and referenced in his trial memo as the "True Boundary." Richard does <u>not</u> challenge that ruling. As he stated on page 30 of his opening brief, "That curved line claim is now WAIVED." (Richard's emphasis.) Richard also acknowledges on page 28 of his Opening Brief that his counterclaims for adverse possession and mutual recognition and acquiescence are premised on that same 'curved' boundary, and are therefore now out of the case as well. Richard's common grantor counterclaim is therefore the only claim arguably at issue on appeal.

Thus, the only 'True Boundary' Richard asserted at trial and in his trial memo, i.e. the 'curved' one, is now admittedly out of the case, which begs the question, 'What, if anything, is left to decide?' According to Richard, left to decide is whether the trial court erred by not recognizing the Voorheis survey itself, or a fictional 'Voorheis survey line' projected from it as the boundary based on the common grantor rule.

> 1. <u>Richard did not Plead a Voorheis survey Line as a Basis</u> for Recovery in his Counterclaims.

Richard's common grantor counterclaim states in relevant part:

The Common Grantor had built a fence on the Voorheis Survey line years before [Ms. Boswell purchased Lot 2 in 1989]. The <u>boundaries marked on the ground by the fence</u>, <u>and used</u> by the Common Grantor as well as Boswell, were immediately binding on Boswell. . . Said boundaries are also binding on Defendants as subsequent purchasers with inquiry notice under the Common Grantor Doctrine.

CP 369, Emphasis added.

Thus, Richard's common grantor counterclaim is based directly on a physical boundary, one <u>marked on the ground by the fence</u>, and necessarily <u>at odds</u> with the legally described boundary. All three of Richard's counterclaims share a distinctive, defining feature. They each provide a means of establishing a boundary that is at odds with the boundary reflected in an accurate survey of the boundary legally described in the deed. <u>Lamm v. McTighe</u>, 72 Wn.2d 587, 591, 434 P.2d 565 (1967).

Thus, the Rule operates to establish a boundary <u>at odds</u> with the legal description. A survey by its nature <u>relies</u> on the legal description, and the Voorheis survey as a basis for recovery was therefore not pled.

A claim based on the Voorheis survey constitutes a compulsory counterclaim Richard was required to plead pursuant to CR 13(a) but did not do so. A claim constitutes a compulsory counterclaim that must be pled pursuant to CR 13(a) ". . . if it arises out of the transaction or occurrence that is the subject matter of the opposing party's claim . . ." Defendants' new claim based on the Voorheis survey certainly arises out of the transactions and/or occurrences that are the subject of Richard's claims, i.e. the real property conveyances at issue. Failure to plead a compulsory counterclaim bars the claimant from raising it thereafter, <u>Krikava v. Webber</u>, 43 Wn. App. 217, 716 P.2d 916 (1986).

Richard claims on page 33 of his brief that the trial court erred by 'assuming' the fictional Voorheis survey line was not part of his common grantor counterclaim. It is rather telling that Richard does not point to the language of the counterclaim itself to support this contention. Rather, he argues that he sufficiently asserted the Voorheis survey line as a basis for recovery simply by mentioning it among the denials (but not his affirmative defenses) in his initial answer to Judy's complaint, in which he did not plead any counterclaims. His actual counterclaims were filed subsequently with his amended answer. CP 371 - 378.

CR 13 provides that where, as here, a defendant has a claim against the plaintiff, the defendant shall state such a claim "<u>as a</u> <u>counterclaim</u>." Richard points to no language of his counterclaim asserting the Voorheis survey itself as a basis for recovery, and cites no authority that would excuse him from complying with the requirements of CR 13. Furthermore, Richard did not seek leave to amend his counterclaims to include the Voorheis survey as a basis for recovery.

The Voorheis survey was not pled as a basis for recovery.

2. <u>Richard Affirmatively Eliminated the Voorheis</u> Survey as a Basis for Recovery at the Start of Trial.

Even if Richard's counterclaim could be construed broadly enough to include the Voorheis survey as a basis for recovery, Richard eliminated it as such at the outset of trial. He stated in his trial memorandum in relevant part that "... only Rich's claims based on use and occupation ... remain ... More particularly, the evidence will establish the <u>True</u> <u>Boundary</u>' in this case is the 'persistent line created by the swale and <u>fence remnant</u>... CP 288, 295. Emphasis added.

Thus, Richard affirmatively limited his claims to only those based on <u>use and occupation</u>. A claim based on a survey necessary conflicts with that limitation because surveys plot boundaries on the ground based on legal descriptions rather than on considerations of use and occupancy. A claim based on the Voorheis survey also conflicts with the curved line along physical features he identified as the 'True Boundary.' The Voorheis survey was therefore not a potential basis for recovery at trial.

As with many of the shortcomings of his case, Richard unfairly blames the trial court. As he stated on page 34 of his Opening Brief:

> ... the trial court overlooked and did not recognize the lack of logic, injustice and error in throwing out the Voorheis Survey line...

If anyone 'threw out' the 'Voorheis survey line' from this case it was Richard himself, who is now in the unenviable position of arguing that the trial court erred by relying on his own representation regarding which of his claims remained. To the contrary, the court would have erred by allowing Richard to pursue such a claim in contravention of his trial memo representations, which would have unfairly prejudiced Judy.

Richard did seek to raise the Voorheis survey as a basis for recovery <u>after</u> trial in a motion for 'reconsideration' pursuant to CR 59. In a procedurally analogous situation the court in <u>JDFJ Corp. v. International</u> <u>Raceway, Inc.</u>, 97 Wn. App. 1, 970 P.2d 343(1999) stated:

Civil Rule 59 does not permit a plaintiff, finding a judgment unsatisfactory, to suddenly propose a new theory of the case. JDFJ's motion for reconsideration was in essence an inadequate and untimely attempt to amend its complaint in general, violating equitable rules of estoppel, election of remedies, and the invited error doctrine. We refuse to permit such a perversion of the rules.

Id. at 7.

Richard's motion for 'reconsideration' is the same 'perversion of the rules' this Court refused to permit in JDFJ, *Id.*⁴ Indeed, Richard's CR 59 motion did not actually seek 'reconsideration' at all. Rather, it sought under the <u>guise</u> of a motion for reconsideration the <u>initial consideration</u> of a new (or previously eliminated) claim fundamentally different than what he represented to the trial court as his 'only remaining claims.' Richard should properly be estopped from contradicting his representation to the court and Judy about what claims remained to be tried.

Furthermore, by identifying an irregularly shaped line formed by physical features as the true boundary in his trial memo, Richard made a binding election of remedies that also operates to eliminate the Voorheis survey as a possible basis for recovery. The Court in <u>Birchler v. Castello</u> <u>Land Co.</u>, 133 Wn. 2d 106, 942 P.2d 968 (1997) described the elements of the doctrine of election of remedies as follows:

Three elements must be present before a party will be held bound by an election of remedies. Two or more remedies must exist at the time of the election; the remedies must be repugnant and inconsistent with each other; and the party to be bound must have chosen one of them.

⁴ <u>JDFJ</u>, *Id.*, is not distinguishable on the basis that Richard is not the <u>plaintiff</u>. Richard was the 'counterclaim plaintiff' at trial. He was the only party who asserted a claim at trial and had a burden of proof to carry.

Id. at 112.

The three requirements for a binding election of remedies are all present. First, two or more remedies clearly existed at the start of trial when Richard made his election. These included the counterclaims he pled of title to a straight, physical fence line; title to an irregularly-shaped fence / swale line and possibly the Voorheis survey itself, assuming his counterclaims can be construed broadly enough to include such a claim. Richard specifically elected the remedy of title based on use and occupation to a physical, irregularly shaped line.

Second, the remedy sought in Richard's reconsideration claim' is 'repugnant and inconsistent' with his trial claim. Richard's trial claim was for title <u>at odds with</u> the legally described boundary. His post-trial claim is based on a survey and therefore embraces rather than rejects the boundary as legally described. Richard's trial claim was premised on <u>occupation</u> to an <u>irregularly-shaped</u> line formed by physical features. Richard's posttrial claim does not rely on occupation or physical features at all, but rather on a straight survey line that is purely fictional rather than physical.

Third, Richard clearly made an election among the available remedies at the commencement of trial by formally announcing that his '<u>only remaining claims</u>' were based on use and occupation, and that the true boundary is established by physical features, i.e., the irregularly shaped fence / swale line rather than any straight survey line.

Thus, all three elements of an election of remedies are present, and Richard is therefore bound by the election he made at the commencement of trial, which the trial court and Judy both reasonably relied on.

The relevance of the Voorheis survey at trial was therefore limited to, at most, (a) possibly establishing the location of the straight part of the fence / swale line on which Richard relied (which he failed to accomplish), and (b) the remedy to which Richard could be entitled pursuant to Judge Castleberry's order if he prevailed at trial on one of his counterclaims s based on a survey. It was not a possible basis for recovery.

B. STANDARD OF REVIEW.

As set forth in his amended notice of appeal, CP 1, Richard appeals from two separate rulings of the trial court; (1) its determination that Richard failed to carry his burden of proof at trial and the resulting dismissal of his counter claims; and (2) its denial of Richard's motion for 'reconsideration,' purportedly pursuant to CR 59.

- 1. Standard Governing the Dismissal of Appellants' Counterclaims.
 - a) A Trial Court's Rulings should be Affirmed on any Basis Supported by the Record.

"It is well recognized that an appellate court may uphold the trial court's ruling on appeal on any basis supported by the record." <u>Stieneke v.</u> <u>Russi</u>, 145 Wn. App. 544, 559 – 560, 190 P.3d 60 (2008).

Richard does not challenge any of the trial court's findings of fact, but rather contends that he is entitled to judgment as a matter of law based on the unchallenged fact findings. Opening Brief, p. 27. "Judgment as a matter of law is proper if viewing the evidence most favorable to the nonmoving party, the court can say, as a matter of law, there is no substantial evidence or reasonable inference to sustain a verdict for the nonmoving party." Estate of Dormaier v. Columbia Basin Anesthesia, 177 Wn. App. 828, 313 P.3d 431, 446 (2013).

Thus, the relevant inquiry on appeal is whether there any basis in the record, when viewed in the light most favorable to Judy as the verdict winner, upon which the trial court's rulings may be affirmed.

b) A Party Seeking to Quiet Title Must Succeed on the Strength of his own Title, not on any Weakness in his Opponent's.

It is well established in Washington that "A party seeking to quiet title must succeed on the strength of its own title, and cannot prevail based on the weakness of the other party's title." <u>Secs. & Inv. Corp. v. Horse</u> <u>Heaven Hgts.</u>, 132 Wn. App. 188, 195, 130 P.3d 880 (2006). Accordingly, appellate review necessarily focuses on the extent to which Richard demonstrated the strength of his own title at trial, rather than any alleged weaknesses in Judy's title to the disputed area. Thus, even if there had been some weakness in Judy's title to the disputed area, it could not constitute a basis upon which to reverse the trial court.

As Richard explains on pages 6 and 27 of his Opening Brief, this is a 'case about Judy,' in which he "only seeks to bind Judy" to a boundary hypothetically projected from the Voorheis survey. Richard thereby admits that he is no longer relying on the strength of his own title, and instead relies improperly on an alleged weakness in Judy's. This alone constitutes a sufficient basis upon which to deny Richard's appeal.

2. <u>The Trial Court's Denial of Defendants' Post-Judgment Motion</u> for Reconsideration is Reviewed for Abuse of Discretion.

The second ruling from which Richard appeals is the denial of his motion for 'reconsideration' by which he seeks to bind Judy to the Voorheis survey. The court in <u>River House Dev., Inc. v. Integrus</u> <u>Architecture, PS</u>, 167 Wn. App. 221, 272 P.3d 289 (2012) stated, "We review a trial court's denial of a motion for reconsideration for abuse of discretion, that is, discretion manifestly unreasonable, or exercised on untenable grounds, or for untenable reasons." *Id.* at 231. "The trial court's discretion extends to refusing to consider an argument raised for the first time on reconsideration absent a good excuse." *Id.*

3. <u>Richard failed to carry his Burden of Proof on his Common</u> <u>Grantor Rule Claim by any</u> Standard of Proof.

The trial court ruled that Richard failed to carry his burden by clear and convincing evidence, or even by the less demanding preponderance of the evidence standard. CP 58. Which of these two standards of proof should apply is not critical on this appeal because the court below considered both and concluded that Richard satisfied neither. There is no possibility of reversible error by the trial court on this issue.⁵

C. RICHARD FAILED TO SATISFY THE REQUIREMENTS OF THE COMMON GRANTOR RULE.

Richard's three counterclaims all share a distinctive, defining

feature. They each provide a means of establishing a boundary that is at

⁵ No published appellate decision has directly established the plaintiff's (or as here, counterclaim plaintiff's) burden under the Rule. Related doctrines require proof by clear and convincing evidence. See <u>Thomas v. Harlan</u>, 27 Wn.2d 512, 518, 178 P.2d 965 (1947) ("Title to real property is a most valuable right which will not be disturbed by estoppel unless the evidence is clear and convincing."); <u>Merriman v. Cokeley</u>, 168 Wn.2d 627, 630, 230 P.3d 162 (2010) (Acquiescence and mutual recognition must be proved by clear, cogent, and convincing evidence.); *accord* Keierleber v. Botting, 77 Wn.2d 711, 715, 466 P.2d 141 (1970); (Reformation of a deed conveying a property interest for mutual mistake requires proof by clear, cogent, and convincing evidence.). The common grantor rule is similar in kind to these doctrines; the rationale that boundary adjustments require this higher standard of proof is equally applicable to it.

odds with the true boundary reflected in an accurate survey of the

boundary legally described in the deed.

Boundaries between adjoining properties, <u>at odds with</u> <u>the true boundary as revealed by subsequent survey</u>, may be established, under appropriate circumstances, through the following doctrines, all of which have been recognized in this state: (1) Adverse possession . . . (4) location by a Common grantor; and/or (5) mutual recognition and acquiescence in a definite line by the interested parties for a long period of time.

Lamm v. McTighe, 72 Wn.2d 587, 591, 434 P.2d 565 (1967).

The requirements for application of the common grantor rule in

particular, Richard's only remaining basis for recovery, are as set forth in

Fralick v. Clark County, 22 Wn. App. 156, 160; 589 P.2d 273, 275 (1978),

which the parties and trial court have all cited as controlling:

It is clear that a grantor who owns land on both sides of a line which <u>he has established</u> as the common boundary <u>is</u> <u>bound</u> by that line. . . However, for the boundary line to become binding and conclusive on grantees,

It must plainly appear that the land was sold and purchased with reference to the line, and that there was a meeting of the minds as to the identical tract of land to be transferred by the sale.

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